1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

THOMAS LEE WEATHERWAX requests the relief designated in 

Part 2 of this Petition. 

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT 

Mr. Weatherwax seeks review of an opinion, published in part 

from Division III of the Court of Appeals dated May 3, 2016. (Appendix 

"A" 1-33) 

3. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Does an ambiguity exist in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) as deter

mined in State v. Breaux, 167 Wn. App. 166, 273 P.3d 447 

(2012) when an anticipatory offense is involved and, if so, does 

the rule oflenity apply; or is Division III's decision in this case 

correct that no ambiguity exists? 

B. Did the State prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, the crime of 

first degree assault as charged in Count I of the Second 

Amended Information? 

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Seventeen (17) year-old Leroy Bercier was inside a convenience 

store at 5803 North Market Street on September 24, 2013. He was dressed 

in varying shades of blue including his shirt, jeans, shoes and belt. (RP 

1 



154,11. 23-24; RP 155, 1. 1; 11. 15-17; 11. 21-22; RP 156,11. 16-22; RP 318, 

11. 1-7; RP 374, 1. 24 to RP 375, 1. 9) 

Mr. Weatherwax and Jayme Rodgers are both recognized members 

of the Norteno Red Boyz. Mr. Weatherwax has been arrested in the past 

with regard to gang graffiti. Both he and Mr. Rodgers display gang tat

toos. (RP 493, 11. 12-15; RP 502, I. 9 to RP 503, 1. 8; RP 504, 11. 15-18; 

RP 505, 11. 3-10; 11. 16-20; RP 538, 11. 1-12; RP 539, 11. 6-11) 

Mr. Rodgers confronted Mr. Bercier inside the store. Mr. 

Weatherwax never entered the store. Mr. Singh, one of the store owners, 

asked Mr. Rodgers to leave when he confronted Mr. Bercier about his blue 

shoes. Mr. Rodgers left. (RP 218, 11. 8-9; 11. 18-19; RP 257, 11. 17-20; RP 

258, 11. 6-16; RP 271, I. 24 to RP 272, I. 1; RP 326, 11. 4-18) 

Louie Stromberg and Amanda Smith were also customers at the 

store when the confrontation occurred between Mr. Rodgers and Mr. 

Bercier. Mr. Stromberg observed that Mr. Bercier was "scared shitless." 

Mr. Bercier told him he was afraid of being jumped. After Mr. Bercier 

left the store Mr. Stromberg kept an eye on him. Mr. Bercier came run

ning back into the store as Mr. Stromberg and Ms. Smith went to their car. 

(RP 227,11. 17-24; RP 228, 11. 1-7; RP 229, 11. 2-3; 11. 17-18; RP 232,11. 

12-21) 

Mr. Bercier claims he was intoxicated on September 24. He re

members running back into the store. He then heard gun shots. (RP 160, 
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1. 3; RP 219, 1. 11 to RP 220, 1. 6; RP 220, 1. 24 to RP 221, 1. 6; RP 225, 11. 

9-21) 

Mr. Stromberg saw two (2) individuals walk around from behind 

parked semis. He asked them what was going on. He then heard some

thing and his car window exploded. He observed muzzle flashes as six ( 6) 

to ten (10) shots occurred. (RP 232, 1. 21 to RP 233, 1. 7; RP 234, 11. 18-

20; RP 235, 11. 2-6) 

Mr. Stromberg has poor eyesight. He could not identify either in

dividual. He could not tell what color clothes they were wearing. He did 

not hear them say anything to Mr. Bercier. Mr. Bercier was already inside 

the store when the shots were fired. (RP 234, 11. 1-2; RP 243, 11. 7-11; RP 

247,11. 9-12; RP 249, 11. 22-25; RP 255, 11. 1-6) 

Mr. Singh heard the gunshots. No damage was ever found on the 

front ofthe store. (RP 228, 11. 22-23; RP 557, 11. 821) 

An Information was filed on September 27, 2013 charging Mr. 

Weatherwax and Mr. Rodgers with one (1) count of first degree assault 

and one (1) count of drive-by shooting. Firearm enhancements were in

cluded. (CP 9) 

An Amended Information was filed on November 21, 2013. It 

added two (2) additional counts of first degree assault and two (2) addi

tional counts of drive-by shooting. All of them contained the firearm en

hancement. (CP 34) 
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A Second Amended Information was filed on April3, 2014. Gang 

enhancements were added; firearm enhancements were removed from the 

drive-by shooting counts; a count of conspiracy to commit first degree as

sault with enhancements was added; and Mr. Weatherwax was separately 

charged with unlawful possession of a firearm first degree (UPF1 °). 

A number of agreed scheduling orders were entered. Trial fmally 

commenced on May 5, 2014. (CP 17; CP 36; CP 37; CP 44) 

A jury found Mr. Weatherwax guilty of all eight (8) counts. The 

jury also answered yes to each of the special verdict forms concerning 

firearm and gang enhancements. (CP 269; CP 270; CP 271; CP 272; CP 

273; CP 274; CP 275; CP 276; CP 277; CP 278; CP 279; CP 280; CP 281; 

CP 282; CP 283) 

Mr. Weatherwax filed a Notice of Appeal on July 31, 2014 even 

though Judgment and Sentence was not entered until August 18, 2014. 

(CP 326; CP 330) 

In calculating the offender score the trial court and the State used 

Count I as the predicate offense (first degree assault involving Mr. 

Bercier). Mr. Weatherwax was assigned an offender score of eight (8). 

He received consecutive sentences on Counts I, II, III and IV. Counts I, 

III and IV were assessed five (5) year mandatory minimum terms. Fire

arm enhancements on those counts were doubled due to a prior conviction 

where a firearm was involved. This added three hundred and sixty (360) 

months to Mr. Weatherwax's sentence. (CP 335) 
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5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

ISSUE 1: 

RAP 13 .4(b) provides, in part: 

A petition for review will be accepted by the 
Supreme Court only: 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is 
in conflict with another decision of the 
Court of Appeals .... 

Division III's decision directly contradicts Division I' s decision in 

State v. Breaux, supra. Moreover, the State conceded the sentencing error. 

As Judge Pennell notes in her dissent: 

The majority opinion departs from Division 
I's holding in State v. Breaux, 167 Wn. App. 
166, 175-76, 273 P.3d 447 (2012), despite 
the State's concession of error and request 
for resentencing under Breaux. While it is 
not unusual for a court to refuse an errone
ous legal concession, and it is not unusual 
for one division of this court to disagree 
with a decision from another division, there 
appears to be little precedent for both cir
cumstances occurring simultaneously. 

Judge Pennell went on to note that "[b ]y creating an uninvited con-

flict in the construction of RCW 9.94A.589, we are unnecessarily compli-

eating the law, upending settled expectations and risking inequitable out-

comes. I would not do so sua sponte." 
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Finally, Judge Pennell notes that the Legislature is aware of the 

Breaux decision and has not taken any steps to amend RCW 

9.94A.589(1)(b). See: Buchanan v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 94 Wn.2d 

508, 511, 617 P.2d 1004 (1980). 

The sentencing court used Count I of the Second Amended 

Information as the predicate offense for sentencing purposes. The 

sentencing court erred. The predicate offense is Count II - conspiracy to 

commit first degree assault. 

RCW 9.94A.595 states: 

For persons convicted of the anticipatory 
offenses of criminal attempt, solicitation, or 
conspiracy under Chapter 9A.28 RCW, the 
presumptive sentence is determined by 
locating the sentencing grid sentence 
range defmed by the appropriate offender 
score and the seriousness level of the 
crime, and multiplying the range by 75%. 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

First degree assault is a serious violent offense. It is a Level XII 

offense. (Appendix "B") 

Conspiracy to commit first degree assault 1s also a Level XII 

offense. 

The trial court determined that Mr. Weatherwax's offender score 

was eight (8). Using Count I as the predicate offense it imposed a term of 

two hundred and thirty-four (234) months. 

On the other hand, using Count II - conspiracy to commit first 
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degree assault - the standard sentencing range would be one hundred and 

fifty-six point seven five (156.75) to two hundred and seven point seven 

five (207. 7 5) months based upon an offender score of eight (8). 

In State v. Breaux, supra, which involved the anticipatory offense 

of attempted first degree rape and the completed offense of first degree 

rape, the Court analyzed the interplay between completed and anticipatory 

offenses for scoring purposes. 

The Breaux Court ruled at 176: 

To determine the offense with the highest 
seriousness level, RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) 
provides for "the highest seriousness level 
under RCW 9.94A.515." Anticipatory 
offenses are not specifically ranked in the 
seriousness level table in RCW 9.94A.515. 
That table contains seriousness levels only 
for completed offenses. First degree rape 
has a seriousness level 12. From this, the 
State argues that in the absence of any 
seriousness level for attempted first degree 
rape, the completed crime of first degree 
rape applies when calculating Breaux's 
offender score under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). 
This reading ignores RCW 9.94A.595, 
which governs the procedure to calculate the 
standard range for anticipatory offenses .... 

The Breaux Court went on to say at 177-78: 

We are unpersuaded by the State's argument 
but need not decide whether the seriousness 
levels assigned to completed offenses apply 
to anticipatory offenses for purposes of 
RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). ... [T]he rule of 
lenity applies in favor of a defendant where 
legislative intent is lacking. Because RCW 
9.94A.589(1)(b) fails to address the 
circumstance in which two or more 
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serious violent offenses arguably have the 
same seriousness level, we address whether 
the rule of lenity applies here. 

(Emphasis supplied.) 

Even though the Breaux Court did not decide that a completed 

offense and an anticipatory offense carry the same seriousness level, Mr. 

Weatherwax urges the Court to so rule in his case. There is no difference 

between a completed offense and an anticipatory offense, both of which 

are serious violent offenses. In the anticipatory offense a substantial step 

has been taken toward completion of the underlying offense. The State 

elected to include a conspiracy charge (Count II) in addition to Count I. 

The victim was the same in Counts I and II. The intent was the same as to 

Counts I and II. The sentencing court found that Counts I and II 

encompassed the same criminal conduct. 

The Breaux Court's conclusion at 179 is the same conclusion that 

should be reached on behalf of Mr. Weatherwax. 

The rule of lenity requires the court to 
construe a statute strictly against the State in 
favor of the defendant where two possible 
constructions are permissible. Because 
RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) is ambiguous, it must 
be construed in Breaux's favor. We 
conclude that ( 1) the offender score 
calculation applies to Breaux's attempted 
first degree rape and (2) the zero scoring 
rule applies to his fust degree rape 
conviction as this will yield a shorter 
sentence. We remand for resentencing 
consistent with this opinion. 
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The fact that two (2) divisions of the Court of Appeals can come to 

differing conclusions concerning the meaning of a particular statute clear-

ly shows that an ambiguity exists. 

The ambiguity arises from the fact that anticipatory offenses are 

not assigned a seriousness level. However, RCW 9.94A.595 establishes 

that an anticipatory offense is to be sentenced according to the underlying 

completed offense with a 75% standard range. Thus, it is apparent that an 

anticipatory offense carries the same seriousness level as the completed 

offense. 

The ambiguity in RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b) appears to be a latent am-

biguity. 

A latent ambiguity is apparent only when 
the language is applied to the facts as they 
exist and is not apparent on the face of the 
language. 

State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). 

A latent ambiguity exists in the statute. Division I recognized that 

latent ambiguity in the Breaux decision. 

Moreover, the rule of lenity "states that an ambiguous criminal 

statute cannot be interpreted to increase the penalty imposed." State v. 

Adlington-Kelly, 95 Wn.2d 917, 920-21, 631 P.2d 954 (1981); see also 

State v. Winebrenner, 165 Wn.2d 451, 462,219 P.3d 686 (2009). 
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Mr. Weatherwax respectfully requests that the Court accept his pe-

tition to resolve the conflict between Division I and Division III as it re-

lates to RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b). 

ISSUE2: 

When considering the sufficiency of the evidence to establish each 

and every element of an offense the test is that set forth in State v. Green._ 

94 Wn.2d 216,221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980): 

" ... [T]he relevant question is whether, after 
viewing the evidence in the light most 
favorable to the prosecution, any rational 
trier of fact could have found the essential 
elements of the crime beyond a reasonable 
doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 
319,99 S. Ct. 2781,61 L. Ed.2d 560 (1979). 

Multiple shots were fired on September 24, 2013. Three (3) 

bullets hit Louie Stromberg's car. No individual was wounded by a bullet. 

No bullets struck the convenience store. 

fired. 

Mr. Bercier was inside the convenience store when the shots were 

WPIC 35.50Error! Bookmark not defined. provides, in part: 

. . . An assault is . . . an act, with unlawful 
force, done with intent to inflict bodily 
injury upon another, tending but failing to 
accomplish it and accompanied with the 
apparent present ability to inflict the bodily 
injury if not prevented. It is not necessary 
that bodily injury be inflicted. 

An assault is also an act, with unlawful 
force, done with the intent to create in 
another apprehension and fear of bodily 
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injury, and which in fact creates in another a 
reasonable apprehension and imminent fear 
of bodily injury even though the actor did 
not actually intend to inflict bodily injury. 

Since no injury occurred it is unknown which assault alternative 

was used by the jury to reach its decision. Was it Mr. Bercier's 

apprehension of harm? Was it the intent of Mr. Rodgers and Mr. 

Weatherwax to inflict bodily injury? 

The biggest problem is that Mr. Bercier was not injured and was 

not outside when the handguns were fired. No bullets entered the store 

where Mr. Bercier had sought safety. 

Based upon the facts in the record all of the shots were directed at 

Mr. Stromberg's car. 

" ... [T]he apprehension of one assaulted is not a necessary element 

of first or second-degree assault." State v. Stationak, 1 Wn. App. 558, 

559, 463 P.2d 260 (1969). 

Mr. Weatherwax reads the Stationak case as standing for the 

proposition that the apprehension prong of WPIC 35.50 is applicable only 

to third and fourth degree assault. 

A second problem with the State's case on Count I is that no shots 

were fired until Mr. Stromberg challenged the two (2) individuals who 

then fired their guns. Since the guns were discharged in Mr. Stromberg's 

direction, it would appear that he was the target of the assault as opposed 

to Mr. Bercier. 
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It is not necessary that the threat of violence 
be directed against a particular person, if 
such general threat could properly be found 
to include within its scope the person 
assaulted. 4 Am. Jur. 199, § 153. 

State v. Cunningham, 51 Wn.(2d) 502, 506, 319 P.(2d) 847 (1958). 

The threat of violence was directed at Mr. Stromberg. Mr. 

Weatherwax contends that that threat was specific and that there was not a 

general threat implicating Mr. Bercier who was already inside the store. 

Moreover, the State did not try the case as a transferred intent case. No 

instruction on transferred intent was given to the jury. 

6. CONCLUSION 

RAP 13.4(b )(2) requires the Supreme Court to resolve the conflict 

between the decisions in State v. Breaux, supra, and State v. Weatherwax, 

slip opinion 32087-6-III (May 3, 2016). 

There was insufficient evidence to support Count I of the Second 

Amended Information. No shots were fired at Mr. Bercier. Mr. Bercier 

was inside the store when the shots were fired. No shots hit the store. All 

shots were directed at Mr. Stromberg. 

No reasonable juror could have found that there was an intent to 

assault Mr. Bercier under the facts and circumstances of this case. RAP 

13.4(b)(3) requires that this issue also be considered. It must be consid-

ered due to the fact that insufficient evidence constitutes a violation of a 

criminal defendant's constitutional right to have the State prove, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, each and every element of an offense. See: Sixth 
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Amendment to the United States Constitution; Fourteenth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21 and 22; RCW 

9A.04.-1 00(1 ).