I. IDENTITY OF PARTY 

Respondent, State of Washington, was the plaintiff in the trial court 

and the respondent in the Court of Appeals. 

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT 

Defendants Weatherwax and Rodgers have filed petitions for review 

of the opinion issued by the Court of Appeals on May 3, 2016, concerning 

whether RCW 9.94A.515 and RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b) are ambiguous as to 

how an offender score is calculated when the offenses include a serious 

violent anticipatory offense (i.e., attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation) and a 

completed serious violent offense. Defendant Weatherwax also seeks 

review of whether sufficient evidence supports his convictions for first 

degree assault. 

The offender score calculation of attempted serious violent felonies 

and completed serious violent felonies meets the criteria under 

RAP 13.4(b)(2) for review. 

However, Respondent seeks denial of the Defendant Weatherwax's 

petition for review concerning whether sufficient evidence supports the 

Defendant's convictions for first degree assault. 



III. ISSUE PRESENTED 

1. Should this Court grant discretionary review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(2), regarding the conflict between Division One and Division 

Three of the Court of Appeals as to whether RCW 9.94A.515 and 

RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b) are ambiguous as to how an offender score is 

calculated when the offenses include a serious violent anticipatory offense 

(i.e., attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation) and a completed serious violent 

offense? 

2. Has petitioner Weatherwax met the criteria for review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), for review regarding the sufficiency of the evidence 

regarding his convictions for first degree assault? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Following a jury trial, the appellants/defendants, Thomas 

Weatherwax and Jayme Rodgers, were convicted of three counts of first 

degree assault, 1 one count of conspiracy to commit first degree assault; and 

two counts of drive-by shooting from a shooting incident in northeast 

Spokane. In addition to the above charges, defendant Weatherwax was 

convicted of one count of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm.2 

All three first degree assault convictions involved separate victims. 

2 The defendant did not assign error to his unlawful possession of a 
firearm conviction in the appellate court. 
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See State v. Weatherwax, No. 32708-6-111, 2016 WL 1755462 (Wash. Ct. 

App. May 3, 2016). 

The facts of this case are set forth in Division Three of the Court of 

Appeals decision. The salient facts below, are taken from the opinion, 

unless the report of proceedings is specifically referenced. 

In the late evening hours in September 2013, Leroy Bercier was at a 

convenience store in the Hillyard neighborhood of Spokane when he was 

confronted by Jayme Lee Rodgers, a member of the Nortefio Red Boyz 

gang, which claims Hillyard as its territory. Mr. Bercier's shoes, belt, and 

shirt were all blue, a color favored by the Surefios, the rival gang of the 

Nortefio Red Boyz. Mr. Rodgers confronted Mr. Bercier about his blue 

clothing and called him a "scrap" - a derogatory term for a Surefios gang 

member. The confrontation was broken up, and Mr. Rogers left the store. 

Mr. Rogers joined up with his co-defendant, Thomas Weatherwax. 

They were unsuccessful in their attempt to have Mr. Bercier exit the store 

and fight them. Mr. Bercier advised several customers that he was afraid of 

Mr. Rogers and Mr. Weatherwax. 

Mr. Bercier ultimately exited the store, and shortly thereafter, ran 

back to the store. Mr. Bercier told a store employee he was being shot at. 

RP 265. Mr. Bercier looked as if he was "running for his life." RP 233. 
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Approximately 30 yards away, Mr. Stromberg observed two 

individuals start shooting in the direction of his car at the gas pump. 

Mr. Stromberg had witnessed the earlier confrontation in the store involving 

Mr. Bercier and the defendants. Mr. Stromberg and his passenger, 

Ms. Smith, ran into the store for cover. 

Mr. Stromberg's car was struck in three different areas by bullets.3 

RP 235. He heard between six and ten gunshots. RP 235. He also heard 

gunshots skipping off the ground. RP 234. The gunshots were coming from 

two different locations and from the area of the two males. RP 235. An 

officer estimated Mr. Stromberg's car was ten to fifteen yards in front of the 

store when the suspects were shooting. RP 345-46. 

Division Three of the Court of Appeals affirmed the first degree 

assault convictions, but reversed the drive-by shooting convictions for 

insufficiency of the evidence. 

3 The bullets hit the left car window, the door, and they went 
through a tire which ultimately struck the car engine, disabling it. RP 237. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. A BASIS EXISTS FOR THIS COURT TO GRANT 
DISCRETIONARY REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(2), 
REGARDING THE CONFLICT BETWEEN DIVISION ONE 
AND DIVISION THREE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AS TO 
WHETHER RCW 9.94A.515 AND RCW 9.94A.589(1)(B) ARE 
AMBIGUOUS AS TO HOW AN OFFENDER SCORE IS 
CALCULATED WHEN THE OFFENSES INCLUDE A SERIOUS 
VIOLENT ANTICIPATORY OFFENSE AND A COMPLETED 
SERIOUS VIOLENT OFFENSE. 

In State v. Breaux, 167 Wn. App. 166,273 P.3d 447 (2012), the trial 

court imposed a sentence under RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b)4 where the 

defendant was convicted of two serious violent offenses with the same 

seriousness level, first degree rape and attempted first degree rape. Breaux, 

167 Wn. App. at 168. The trial court calculated the offender score using 

the completed crime of first degree rape, and scored the attempted first 

4 RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b) provides: 

Whenever a person is convicted of two or more serious 
violent offenses arising from separate and distinct criminal 
conduct, the standard sentence range for the offense with the 
highest seriousness level under RCW 9 .94A.515 shall be 
determined using the offender's prior convictions and other 
current convictions that are not serious violent offenses in 
the offender score and the standard sentence range for other 
serious violent offenses shall be determined by using an 
offender score of zero. The standard sentence range for any 
offenses that are not serious violent offenses shall be 
determined according to (a) of this subsection. All sentences 
imposed under (b) of this subsection shall be served 
consecutively to each other and concurrently with sentences 
imposed under (a) of this subsection. 
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degree rape as "0." !d. Division One of the Court of Appeals reversed the 

trial court, holding: 

Because RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b) is ambiguous, it must be 
construed in Breaux's favor. We conclude that (1) the 
offender score calculation applies to Breaux's attempted first 
degree rape and (2) the 0 scoring rule applies to his first 
degree rape conviction as this will yield a shorter sentence. 

!d. at 168. 

In the present case, Division Three, in the published portion of their 

opinion, reached a contrary conclusion. In so ruling, the court stated: 

Here, as in Breaux, one of the serious violent offenses being 
sentenced is an anticipatory offense-in this case, it is the 
charge of conspiracy to commit first degree assault; in 
Breaux the charge was attempted first degree rape. 
RCW 9.94A.515, which identifies crimes included within 
each seriousness level, does not include anticipatory crimes 
within any seriousness level. A different statute, 
RCW 9 .94A.595 provides that for persons convicted of the 
anticipatory offenses of criminal attempt, solicitation or 
conspiracy under chapter 9A.28 RCW, the presumptive 
sentence is determined by locating the sentencing grid 
sentence range defined by the appropriate offender score and 
the seriousness level of the crime, and multiplying the range 
by 7 5 percent. 

Mr. Weatherwax and Mr. Rodgers argue that if we treat the 
anticipatory crime of conspiracy to commit first degree 
assault as if it has a seriousness level of 12 under 
RCW 9 .94A.515-the seriousness level for first degree 
assault-then neither it nor the first degree assault count will 
have the "highest" seriousness level under that statute 
because their seriousness levels will be the same. Since the 
standard sentence range for conspiracy is reduced by 
multiplying it by 75 percent, however, the offender derives 
a substantial benefit if the offense sentenced using the full 
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offender score is the anticipatory offense. Mr. Weatherwax 
and Mr. Rodgers argue the rule of lenity requires us to 
construe the statute to give them that benefit. If we do, then 
we will have created the only situation in which 
RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b) does not require the full offender 
score to be used where it will maximize the sentence. No 
reason is offered as to why the legislature would have 
intended such a result. 

Weatherwax, at *3 (internal citation omitted). 

Ultimately, the court held: 

... [l]imiting the choice of "the offense with the highest 
seriousness level under RCW 9 .94A.515 [] to those that 
actually have a seriousness level under that statute, ensures 
that the full offender score is used where it will maximize 
the sentence. It avoids an anomalous exception for 
anticipatory offenses. 

For these reasons, we respectfully disagree with the 
result in Breaux and affirm the trial court's application of 
RCW 9.94A.589(l)(b). 

Weatherwax, at *4. 

Because "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with 

another decision of the Court of Appeals," a basis exists for this Court to 

grant discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

B. THE APPELLANT WEATHERWAX HAS NOT MET THE 
CRITERIA UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(3) FOR REVIEW OF THE 
SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE REGARDING HIS 
CONVICTIONS FOR FIRST DEGREE ASSAULT. 

Appellant Weatherwax seeks discretionary review regarding his 

first degree assault convictions pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3). Pet. for Rev. at 

10-12. Mr. Weatherwax does not specifically identify which first degree 
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assault conviction he seeks review on. However, he does reference the 

assault regarding Mr. Bercier and the sufficiency of the evidence regarding 

that conviction. 5 

In ruling on a motion for discretionary review, this Court applies the 

considerations set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Review will be accepted by this 

Court only if a petition meets at least one of the four considerations, 

including a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State 

of Washington or of the United States, or involving an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

Mr. Weatherwax urges this Court to accept review pursuant to 

RAP 13.4(b)(3) because "[n]o reasonable juror could have found that there 

was an intent to assault Mr. Bercier under the facts and circumstances of 

this case." Pet. for Rev. at 12. 

The law on the standard of review and legal principles associated 

with a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence are well-settled. When 

considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the State's evidence, this court 

determines, whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential 

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See, State v. Condon, 

5 Accordingly, Mr. Weatherwax's two additional first degree assault 
convictions will not be addressed. 
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182 Wn.2d 307, 314, 343 P.3d 357 (2015); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). 

On direct review, the defendant challenged the sufficiency of the 

evidence regarding the conviction involving victim Leroy Bercier, arguing 

that Mr. Bercier was not near the shots fired. Division Three rejected this 

argument finding: 

Some evidence suggests Mr. Weatherwax could not have 
been attempting to inflict injury upon Mr. Bercier, because 
he likely saw that Mr. Bercier had taken cover in the store, 
and he did not shoot into the store. Given all that occurred, a 
reasonable fact finder could still conclude Mr. Weatherwax 
intended to put Mr. Bercier in apprehension of harm, 
however. 

Weatherwax, at * 10. 

The defendant has not provided any authority or argument as to why 

this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) regarding his 

sufficiency of the evidence claim. He sets forth the same argument 

previously provided to the jury, and again to court of appeals. This Court 

should deny review on this issue. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

There is a basis under RAP 13 .4(b )(2) for this Court to grant review 

regarding the conflict between Division One and Division Three regarding 

the sentencing issue. With respect to the sufficiency of the evidence 

argument regarding the first degree assault convictions, Respondent 
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requests this Court deny review as the appellant Weatherwax's argument 

does not meet the criteria under RAP 13.4(b)(3) for review.